SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

DEC 2 9 2015

March Area Services Company Co

		37 000010	Frank A. McGuire Clerk	
THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA)	No. S228642 -	Deputy	
Petitioner,)))	Court of Appea E061754	al No.	
v.)			
)	Related Death	L	
THE SUPERIOR COURT OF)	Penalty Appea	d ,	
CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF)	Pending No. S	137307	
SAN BERNARDINO,)			
)	*		
Respondent,)			
1)			
JOHNNY MORALES,)			
)			
Real Party in Interest.)			
·)			
	/			

REAL PARTY IN INTEREST/APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Issuing Peremptory Writ of Mandate, Filed July 15, 2015

ISSUES PRESENTED ON REVIEW

This Court granted review to decide whether:

- (1) "[A] trial judge in a capital case has jurisdiction to grant a motion to preserve evidence potentially relevant to habeas corpus investigation in anticipation of the appointment of habeas corpus counsel who can conduct that investigation and related discovery proceedings under Penal Code section 1054.9;" and whether
- (2) "[C]urrent law create[s] such a clear and present legal duty or rule that a trial court categorically acts outside its jurisdiction whenever it exercises its discretion in a capital case to grant a motion to preserve evidence, brought after it has imposed a death judgment but while appeal therefrom is pending."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Imposition of the Death Judgment in the Trial Court and this Court's Acquisition of Appellate Jurisdiction

On September 12, 2005, the Superior Court of San Bernardino County, the Honorable Ingrid Uhler Presiding, entered a judgment of death against appellant and real party in interest, Johnny Morales. On August 27, 2009, the Office of the State Public Defender was appointed to represent Morales on his automatic appeal from that judgment before this Court, which is currently pending in No. S137307. (See Gov. Code, § 15421.)

B. Appellate Counsel's Motion in the Trial Court for an Order to Preserve Evidence, Brought in Anticipation of Morales's Right to Habeas Corpus Counsel and this Court's Appointment of Such Counsel and That Counsel's Exclusive Authority to Conduct Factual Investigation and Seek Discovery

Morales's right to the appointment of capital habeas corpus counsel has yet to be honored. (See Gov. Code, §§ 68662, 68663; Supreme Court Policies Regarding Cases Arising from Judgments of Death, Policy 3, std. 2-1.) Hence, on April 10, 2014, and pursuant to the duty this Court has imposed upon appellate counsel to preserve evidence of potential relevance to habeas corpus investigation until habeas counsel is appointed (Supreme Ct. Policies, policy 3, std. 1-1; *Marks v. Superior Court* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 176, 184), Morales's appellate counsel moved the trial court for an order to various local agencies to preserve (not produce) such evidence ("preservation motion"). (Real Party Morales's Opposition to People's petition for writ of mandate in Court of Appeal No. E061754

["Opposition"], Exhibits A, C & D.)¹ The motion was brought in anticipation of this Court's appointment of habeas corpus counsel, who has the exclusive authority to conduct factual investigation and seek discovery under Penal Code section 1054.9 to aid in his or her preparation of a petition for writ of habeas corpus on Morales's behalf. (*Ibid.*)²

On April 29, 2014, the District Attorney filed a written opposition to the motion on the grounds, inter alia, that the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to grant the motion after it had imposed judgment and this Court acquired appellate jurisdiction over the judgment. (Opposition, Exhibit B.) Morales filed a written reply disputing the District Attorney's challenges. (Opposition, Exhibit C.)

On July 9, 2014, after considering the written pleadings and hearing oral arguments, the trial judge ruled, inter alia, that she had the authority to entertain the motion and granted it in toto. She signed the evidence preservation order on the same date. (Opposition, Exhibit E, pp. 112-116, & F.)³

¹ According to this Court's docket, on August 19, 2016, the Court of Appeal record of the mandamus proceeding was imported to this Court. Because there is no formal Clerk's Transcript to which to cite, Morales shall herafter refer to the orders and pleadings in the appellate record by date and name.

² Appellate counsel brought the motion before the trial court contemporaneously with record correction proceedings then pending before the court.

³ The terms "evidence preservation" motion and order are used throughout this brief to refer to a motion for an order to preserve (not produce) materials that are in the possession of the prosecution team and other local entities that appear relevant to potential habeas corpus (continued...)

C. The People's Petition in the Court of Appeal for a Writ of Mandamus to the Trial Court to Vacate its Evidence Preservation Order for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction and the Appellate Court's Published Opinion that the Writ Should Issue

On August 20, 2014, the Attorney General, on behalf of the People, filed a petition in the Court of Appeal for the Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, for a writ of mandamus to the trial court to vacate its evidence preservation order on the ground, inter alia, that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction to issue the order after judgment was imposed and while appeal was pending. (8/20/14 Petition for Writ of Mandamus in No. E061754.) On September 4, 2014, the Court of Appeal ordered Morales to file a response to the petition, without which it was inclined to issue a peremptory writ, and gave the People an opportunity to reply to Morales's response. (9/4/14 order in No. E061754.) On October 21, 2014, Morales filed an opposition to the petition. (Opposition, p. 1.) The People elected to file no reply. On November 18, 2014, the appellate court issued an order to show cause why the petition should not be granted which permitted Morales to elect to stand on his already-filed opposition and afforded the People another opportunity to reply to Morales's response. (11/18/14 order in No. E061754.) On December 10, 2014, Morales gave notice that he elected to stand on his opposition given the petitioner's failure to reply and address the points and authorities raised therein. (12/10/14 notice by letter in No. E061754.) The People again declined to file a reply to Morales's opposition.

³(...continued) investigation, brought in anticipation of the appointment of habeas corpus counsel and his or her exclusive authority to initiate factual investigation and discovery under Penal Code section 1054.9.

On March 4, 2015, the appellate court issued a tentative written opinion adopting the People's jurisdictional argument and granting the People's petition on the ground that the trial court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to issue the preservation order. (3/4/15 Tentative Opinion in No. E061754.) As set forth in more detail in the arguments below, the appellate court concluded that this Court's decisions categorically "forbid[] trial courts from ruling on . . . [nonstatutory] 'free-floating' motions" after they have imposed judgment because "there is simply no pending case or proceeding to which the motion can attach," regardless of whether appeal from the judgment is pending and regardless of the purpose and effect of the order granting the motion. (See Appendix A, pp. 7-10, citing *People v. Gonzalez* (1990) 51 Cal.3d 1179, *People v. Johnson* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1183, and *People v. Picklesimer* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 330.)⁴

On July 7, 2015, the parties presented oral argument and Morales's appellate counsel pressed the appellate court to deny the petition based on authorities he cited in his pleadings but which were omitted from the court's tentative opinion. (Appendix C, pp. 2-4.) Nevertheless, on July 15, 2015, the appellate court adopted its tentative opinion in full, without modification, as its final opinion that the writ must issue. (App. A.) Although the final opinion was originally issued in unpublished form, on July 31, 2015, the appellate court granted the People's request to publish it. (Appendix B; see also *People v. Superior Court (Morales)* (2015) _____ Cal.App.4th ____, 2015 *Daily Journal* D.A.R. 8792.)

⁴ Exhibit A is the appellate court's final opinion. However, as explained in Morales's petition for review and undisputed by the People in their answer filed in this Court, the appellate court's final opinion adopted the tentative opinion in full and without modification.

D. Morales's Petition for Review and Motion for Judicial Notice in this Court

On August 19, 2015, Morales filed a petition for review in this Court asking it to: (1) make clear that, after they have imposed judgment and while appeal therefrom is pending, trial judges in capital cases retain subject matter jurisdiction to grant motions to preserve evidence potentially relevant to habeas corpus investigation in anticipation of the appointment of habeas corpus counsel who can conduct that investigation and related discovery proceedings under Penal Code section 1054.9; and (2) determine whether the law that existed at the time of the trial court's 2014 evidence preservation order in this case created such a clear and present legal duty or rule mandating trial courts to *deny* such motions for lack of subject matter jurisdiction that an order granting such a motion warranted extraordinary relief on mandamus. (Morales's Petition for Review, pp. 2, 6.) On the same date, Morales filed a request for judicial notice of preservation orders issued by other trial courts in other cases, after they imposed judgment but while the appeals therefrom were pending, from 2011 through 2014.⁵

Specifically, Morales moved for judicial notice of the following illustrative, but by no means exclusive, court orders: *People v. Robert Ward Frazier*, Contra Costa County Superior Court No. 041700-6, December 6, 2013 order granting postjudgment motion to preserve evidence made while automatic appeal pending in No. S148863; *People v. Robert James Acremant*, Tulare County Superior Court No. 31734, August 3, 2011 order while automatic appeal pending in No. S0110804; *People v. Larry Kusuth Hazlett, Jr.*, Kern County Superior Court No. BF100925A, June 22, 2004 and October 6, 2011 orders while automatic appeal pending in No. S126387; *People v. Carlos Marvin Argueta*, Los Angeles County Superior Court No. BA261252, November 7, 2014, order while automatic appeal pending in No. S150524; *People v. Louis Mitchell, Jr.*, San Bernardino County Superior Court No. FSB051580, June 22, 2012 order while

On August 27, 2015, this Court requested an answer from the People to the petition for review. On September 8, 2015, the People filed an answer to the petition, arguing only that this Court should not grant review. On September 11, 2015, Morales filed a reply to the People's answer.

On September 30, 2015, this Court granted Morales's petition for review, as well as his motion for judicial notice.

//

//

⁵(...continued) automatic appeal pending in No. S147335.

ARGUMENT

I. HILE A JUDGMENT IS PENDING ON APPEAL, TRIAL JUDGES IN CAPITAL CASES RETAIN JURISDICTION TO GRANT MOTIONS TO PRESERVE EVIDENCE POTENTIALLY RELEVANT TO HABEAS CORPUS INVESTIGATION IN ANTICIPATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF HABEAS CORPUS COUNSEL WHO CAN CONDUCT THAT INVESTIGATION AND RELATED DISCOVERY PROCEEDINGS UNDER PENAL CODE SECTION 1054.9

A. Introduction

Twenty five years ago, this Court held in *People v. Gonzalez* (1990) 51 Cal.3d 1179 ("*Gonzalez*") that defendants had no right to, and trial courts lacked jurisdiction to grant, discovery after the trial court imposes judgment and before the filing of a petition for writ of habeas corpus and a finding that it states a prima facie case for relief. (*Id.* at pp. 1257-1261.) Two years later, in *People v. Johnson* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1183 ("*Johnson*"), the Court followed *Gonzalez* and held that because there is no right to postjudgment pre-petition discovery, there is likewise no right to, and trial courts have no jurisdiction to grant, "anticipatory postjudgment discovery" motions to preserve evidence in anticipation of (then) non-existent discovery. (*Id.* at pp. 1257-1258.)

This Court has explicitly held that *Gonzalez*'s holding has been abrogated by the 2002 enactment of Penal Code section 1054.9, which grants capital (and LWOP) defendants the right to, and trial courts jurisdiction over, postjudgment pre-petition discovery "as an aid in preparing" a petition for writ of habeas corpus. (*In re Steele* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 682, 691-692; App. A, p. 8.) The People and the appellate court in this case recognized as much, but reasoned that *Gonzalez* has been

abrogated only "to the extent covered by the statute." (App. A, p. 8.)

Otherwise, the appellate court concluded, *Gonzalez* and *Johnson* remain intact. In the court's view, both clearly stand for the broad and categorical proposition that trial courts have no jurisdiction to grant any nonstatutory motions – including but not limited to evidence preservation motions – after they have imposed judgment because "there is simply no pending case or proceeding to which the motion can attach," regardless of whether appeal from the judgment is pending or the purpose and effect of the order granting the motion. (App. A, pp. 7-10.) That this broad and categorical rule remains the law today is, according to the appellate court, demonstrated by this Court's "confirm[ation]" of that purported rule in *People v. Picklesimer* (2010) 48 Cal.4th 330, 337 ("*Picklesimer*"). (App. A, p. 8.) Based on this analysis, the appellate court granted the People's petition for writ of mandamus to the trial court to vacate its evidence preservation motion for want of subject matter jurisdiction. (App. A, pp. 7-10.)

As demonstrated below, this Court's decision in *Picklesimer* simply does not stand for the proposition the appellate court attributed to it.

Furthermore, this Court's *Gonzalez* and *Johnson* decisions regarding a trial court's postjudgment jurisdiction to entertain and grant motions relating to discovery in capital cases, as well as the broader implications of their jurisdictional analyses as applied postjudgment and while appeal therefrom is pending, have effectively been rendered dead letter, or limited to their particular time and place in the legal landscape. That landscape has changed dramatically in light of subsequent decisions and developments in the law and policy governing capital postconviction practice and procedure. In the current legal landscape, after a trial court has imposed a death judgment and while the finality of that judgment remains pending on appeal

before this Court, trial courts retain jurisdiction to grant motions to preserve evidence potentially relevant to habeas corpus investigation in anticipation of the appointment of habeas corpus counsel who can conduct that investigation and related discovery proceedings under Penal Code section 1054.9.

- B. After They Have Imposed Judgment and While Appeal Therefrom Is Pending, Trial Courts Retain Subject Matter Jurisdiction to Grant Evidence Preservation Motions
 - 1. During the Pendency of Appeal from a Judgment, Code of Civil Procedure Section 916 Provides that Trial Courts Retain Subject Matter Jurisdiction To Proceed on Collateral Matters that Do Not Affect or Alter the Judgment Being Appealed

The appellate court's analysis and reliance on *Picklesimer* to support its grant of mandamus conflated two distinct concepts: (1) a trial court's jurisdiction following a true "final" judgment – i.e., judgment has not only been imposed in the trial court but has also been rendered final on appeal (or after the time for filing appeal has passed) and remittitur has issued; and (2) a trial court's jurisdiction after it has imposed judgment but while the finality of that judgment has been stayed pending appeal. (See Code Civ. Proc., §§ 22, 577, 916, & 1049; Pen. Code, § 1260.) The rule reflected in cases like *Picklesimer* applies in the former situation and provides that a trial court is ordinarily without subject matter jurisdiction to entertain or grant motions in that context because both the trial court proceedings and the resulting judgment are final for all purposes and hence there is nothing pending in the trial court to which a motion can attach. (*Picklesimer*, *supra*, 48 Cal.4th at pp. 337-338, and authorities cited therein; accord, e.g., *People v. Ainsworth* (1990) 217 Cal.App.3d 247, 251.) But very different rules

apply while the judgment and its finality are pending on appeal.⁶

As this Court recognized in its post-Gonzalez and Johnson decision in Townsel v. Superior Court (1999) 20 Cal.4th 1084 ("Townsel"), Code of Civil Procedure section 916 governs a trial court's jurisdiction after it has imposed judgment and while appeal therefrom is pending. Section 916 provides in relevant part: "the perfecting of an appeal stays proceedings in the trial court upon the judgment or order appealed from or upon the matters embraced therein or affected thereby, including enforcement of the judgment or order, but the trial court may proceed upon any other matter embraced in the action and not affected by the judgment or order." (Code Civ. Proc., § 916, subd. (a), italics added.)

Under Code of Civil Procedure section 916, when an appeal is taken from the judgment imposed by the trial court, it results in only a partial divestment of the trial court's inherent jurisdiction during pendency of the appeal. (*Townsel*, *supra*, 20 Cal.4th at pp. 1089-1090; accord, e.g., *Varian Medical Systems*, *Inc. v. Delfino* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 180, 189, and authorities cited therein ["*Varian*"].) The appellate court acquires exclusive appellate jurisdiction over the judgment and the trial court has no authority to interfere with such appellate jurisdiction. In order "to protect the appellate court's jurisdiction by preserving the status quo until the appeal is decided," section 916, subdivision (a), "stays all further trial court proceedings 'upon the matters embraced' in or 'affected' by the appeal" (*Varian*, *supra*, at p.

⁶ To be sure, the term "final judgment" has various meanings depending upon the purpose for which "finality" is relevant. (See 7 Witkin, Cal. Proc. 5th (2008) Judgm. § 7, p. 551 [collecting cases].) For jurisdictional purposes and ease of reference, Morales will use the term "true final judgment" throughout this brief to refer to a judgment that has been rendered final following appeal and issuance of the remittitur.

189) and divests the trial court of subject matter jurisdiction over the judgment being appealed and bars it from taking action which affects or alters the judgment (*id.* at pp. 196-198; *Townsel*, *supra*, at p. 1089).

Importantly, however, the appellate court's "acquisition of appellate jurisdiction does not . . . divest the trial court of all power to act." (Townsel, supra, 20 Cal.4th at pp. 1089-1090; accord, Varian, supra, 35 Cal.4th at pp. 189, 191.) Rather, by the plain terms of Code of Civil Procedure section 916, trial courts retain jurisdiction over "other matter[s] embraced in the action and *not* affected by the judgment." (Townsel, supra, at p. 1090, italics added.) Thus, an appeal taken from the judgment imposed in the trial court "does not stay proceedings on 'ancillary or collateral matters which do not affect the judgment or order on appeal ' [Citation.]" (Varian, supra, at p. 191.) If a postjudment motion, proceeding, or order does not "interfere with [the appellate court's] appellate jurisdiction" by affecting the appeal or altering the judgment on appeal, it falls within the trial court's jurisdiction to proceed on the matter. (Townsel, supra, at p. 1090; accord, Varian, supra, at p. 191.) Or as this Court has otherwise explained, "whether a matter is "embraced" in or "affected" by a judgment or order within the meaning of section 916 depends on whether postjudgment or postorder proceedings on the matter would have any effect on the "effectiveness" of the appeal.' [Citations.]" (Varian, supra, at p. 189.) "If so, the proceedings are stayed" and the trial court has no jurisdiction to act; "if not, the proceedings are permitted" and the trial court has jurisdiction to act. (Ibid.; see also Id. at pp. 191, 196-198.) For instance, in *Townsel* – and as discussed in detail in Part 3, post – this Court held that the trial judge retained jurisdiction under section 916 to issue a nonstatutory jury no-contact order after it had imposed a death

judgment and while automatic appeal therefrom was pending because it did not affect of alter the judgment being appealed or otherwise interfere with this Court's appellate jurisdiction. (*Townsel*, *supra*, at pp. 1089-1091.)

2. The Holdings and Jurisdictional Analyses of Gonzalez and Johnson

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