In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Petitioner,

v.

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY,

Respondent,

JOHNNY MORALES,

Real Party in Interest.

CAPITAL CASE

Case No. S228642SUPREME COURT

(Related Case No. S137307)

FILED

JAN 27 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E061754 San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. FVA 015456 The Honorable INGRID A. UHLER, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

I. A TRIAL COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO ISSUE A
POSTJUDGMENT ORDER TO PRESERVE EVIDENCE BECAUSE
SUCH MATTERS OF POSTJUDGMENT DISCOVERY ARE NOT
EMBRACED IN A CRIMINAL ACTION

In Gonzalez, supra, 51 Cal.3d 1179, this Court held that a trial court, after entry of judgment in a criminal case, lacks jurisdiction to grant a motion for postjudgment discovery. (Id. at p. 1257.) And in Johnson, supra, 3 Cal.4th 1183, this Court held that a trial court lacks jurisdiction to entertain a postjudgment motion for preservation of evidence—which this Court characterized as essentially a request for "anticipatory postjudgment discovery." (Id. at pp. 1257-1258.) These decisions control this case:

Because Morales's motion was filed after entry of judgment, and sought to

invoke the trial court's discovery authority, the trial court lacked jurisdiction to rule on the motion.

Morales argues that *Gonzalez* and *Johnson* were wrongly decided. Alternatively, he argues that subsequent developments in the law have rendered them a "dead letter." Neither argument has merit. Then, as now, a trial court lacks authority to entertain a postjudgment motion for preservation of evidence because matters of postjudgment discovery are not embraced in a criminal proceeding, and therefore do not relate to any proceeding over which the trial court has jurisdiction.

A. Gonzalez and Johnson Correctly Held That, After Judgment Has Been Entered in a Criminal Case, a Trial Court Generally Has No Jurisdiction to Hear and Determine a Discovery Motion

In Gonzalez and Johnson, this Court held that a trial court generally lacks authority to issue postjudgment orders relating to discovery—including orders to preserve evidence—because after judgment is entered nothing remains pending in the trial court to which its discovery authority may attach. (Johnson, supra, 3 Cal.4th at p. 1258; Gonzalez, supra, 51 Cal.3d at p. 1257.) Morales contends these decisions are wrong because they "ignored" the "plain terms" of section 916(a). (Brief on the Merits, at pp. 14-15.) Contrary to Morales's position, this Court's decisions in Gonzalez and Johnson were correct.

1. People v. Gonzalez

In the *Gonzalez* capital case, habeas corpus proceedings were consolidated with the automatic appeal. (*Gonzalez*, *supra*, 51 Cal.3d at p. 1199; *id.* at p. 1285 [dis. opn. of Broussard, J.].) One of the issues raised by the defendant on habeas was whether the prosecution at the trial knowingly had presented false testimony from a jailhouse informer named

Acker, who had been housed in the Los Angeles County Jail. (*Id.* at p. 1242; *id.* at pp. 1280, 1286 [dis. opn. of Broussard, J.].) This Court found that *Gonzalez* failed to state a prima facie case on that claim. (*Id.* at pp. 1240-1242.)

Subsequently, news broke of a widespread practice of perjury by inmate informers held in the Los Angeles County jail. (*Gonzalez*, *supra*, 51 Cal.3d at pp. 1279-1280 [dis. opn. of Broussard, J.].) The trial court granted a discovery motion filed by the defendant seeking access to law enforcement files relating to Acker. (*Id.* at pp. 1255-1256.) The People filed a petition for writ of mandate in this Court seeking to overturn the trial court's postjudgment discovery order. (*Id.* at p. 1256.)

This Court issued a peremptory writ of mandate because "[t]he trial court lacked jurisdiction to order 'free-floating' postjudgment discovery when no criminal proceeding was then pending before it." (*Gonzalez*, *supra*, 51 Cal.3d at p. 1256.) That conclusion was grounded in the rule that a court's authority to entertain a motion generally depends on its relation to a proceeding over which the court has jurisdiction; if there is no such proceeding pending in the court, it lacks jurisdiction to rule on the motion. [Id. at p. 1257.] This is so because, "[a]s with any other motion, a discovery motion is not an independent right or remedy. It is ancillary to an ongoing action or proceeding. After the judgment has become final, there is nothing pending in the trial court to which a discovery motion may attach." (*Ibid.*, quoting *People v. Ainsworth* (1990) 217 Cal.App.3d 247, 251.) This was true even though the case was pending on appeal, because

² Exceptions to this rule generally arise in instances where a statute specifically authorizes a free-standing motion. (*People v. Picklesimer*, *supra*, 48 Cal.4th at p. 337 fn. 2; see, e.g., Pen. Code, § 17, subd. (b)(3) [motion to reduce a "wobbler" to a misdemeanor]; Pen. Code, § 1203.4 [motion by probationer to vacate plea and dismiss charges].)

a trial court's direct jurisdiction over a case that is on appeal "is strictly limited by statute and by the appellate remittitur." (Gonzalez, supra, 51 Cal.3d at p. 1257, citing, inter alia, Code of Civ. Proc., § 916, subd. (a).)

Gonzalez rejected the defendant's argument that Wisely v. Superior Court (1985) 175 Cal. App.3d 267, compelled a contrary conclusion. In Wisely, the Court of Appeal held that, during the pendency of the People's appeal from an order granting a capital defendant a new penalty trial, the trial court retained jurisdiction to grant the defendant's discovery motion related to the new trial. The appellate court said that "discovery proceedings sought preparatory to an anticipated new trial on the penalty phase constitute matters embraced in the action and not affected by the judgment or order, within the meaning of Code of Civil Procedure section 916." (Id. at p. 270.) To hold otherwise, the appellate court asserted, "would have a distinctly adverse effect on petitioner's fundamental right to a fair trial." (Ibid.)

This Court in *Gonzalez* deemed *Wisely* inapposite because there was to be a new penalty trial in that case. Thus, there was a matter pending in the trial court to which the discovery motion could attach. In the *Gonzalez* case, however, there was no new-trial order, or other pending matter, to which such a motion could attach. (*Gonzalez, supra*, 51 Cal.3d at p. 1257.)

Gonzalez also rejected the defendant's reliance on Code of Civil Procedure section 187, "which grants every court all means necessary to carry its jurisdiction into effect." As Gonzalez explained, "[b]y its terms, ... section 187 operates only where some other provision of law confers judicial authority in the first instance." (Gonzalez, supra, 51 Cal.3d at p. 1257, emphasis in original.) In Gonzalez, no other provision of law had conferred jurisdiction in the first place. (Id. at pp. 1257-1258.)

Gonzalez also rejected the argument that jurisdiction arose from the inherent judicial authority to order discovery in aid of fair criminal trials.

This Court's opinion explained that, *after* a conviction has been entered, the presumption of innocence has been overcome and there are no similar rights to postconviction discovery designed to aid a defendant's collateral efforts to overturn a conviction. (*Gonzalez*, *supra*, 51 Cal.3d at p. 1258.)

This Court further rejected the notion that it should order or approve the requested discovery itself under the unique circumstances of that case. First, the appellate function "does not include providing a party with discovery that might undermine the judgment under review." (Gonzalez, supra, 51 Cal.3d at p. 1258.) Second, the habeas proceedings did not provide an appropriate vehicle to order discovery because the Court had already concluded that the defendant failed to state a prima facie case that Acker provided perjured testimony. "Any petition that does not [establish a prima facie case] must be summarily denied, and it creates no cause or proceeding which would confer discovery jurisdiction." (Gonzalez, supra, 51 Cal.3d at pp. 1258-1259.)

2. People v. Johnson

During the pendency of the automatic appeal, the defendant in *Johnson* moved the trial court for an order for preservation of materials offered or received into evidence in the capital trial, and of materials offered or received into evidence in an earlier trial that had resulted in his conviction of voluntary manslaughter. *Johnson*, *supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 1256.) The motion also sought preservation of "all law enforcement reports, notes, tape recordings, or other memorializations or fruits of law enforcement investigation or witness interviews, all scientific or forensic reports or notes and underlying documentation, all photographs, and all other items of evidence" related to the capital trial or to the prior manslaughter trial. (*Ibid.*)

The trial court denied the motion on the ground that it lacked jurisdiction. (*Johnson*, *supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 1256.) *Johnson* filed a notice of appeal in the Court of Appeal. That appeal was transferred to this Court and consolidated with the automatic appeal. (*Ibid.*)

This Court affirmed the denial of the motion to preserve evidence. It characterized *Johnson*'s motion as one that "essentially sought anticipatory postjudgment discovery." (*Johnson*, *supra*, 3 Cal.4th at pp. 1257-1258.)

The Court then followed the holding in *Gonzalez* that discovery motions "fall outside the trial court's jurisdiction when unconnected with any criminal proceeding then pending before it." (*Id.* at p. 1258, citing *Gonzalez*, *supra*, 51 Cal.3d at pp. 1256-1258, and *People v. Ainsworth*, *supra*, 217 Cal.App.3d at pp. 250-255.)

This Court rejected Johnson's claim that jurisdiction was granted by section 916(a). It explained that, under that section, "during the pendency of an appeal, the trial court loses jurisdiction to do anything in connection with the cause that may affect the judgment, but retains certain powers over the parties and incidental aspects of the cause, such as procedural steps in connection with preparation and correction of the record." (*Johnson*, *supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 1257.) Johnson sought to "equate preservation of the requested materials with preparation of the record (proceedings for which were ongoing in the trial court when he made his motion for preservation)." (*Ibid.*) But this Court dismissed that idea, finding that "[t]he record correction proceedings pending before the trial court at the time of defendant's motion are not the type of proceeding that can support a request for discovery." (*Id.* at p. 1258.)

The *Johnson* opinion went on to distinguish three appellate decisions that had recognized a trial court's jurisdiction to enter certain postjudgment orders. First, it distinguished *Hays v. Superior Court* (1940) 16 Cal.2d 260, 262-267, in which this Court held that a trial court had jurisdiction to order

postponement of a deposition during the pendency of an appeal from the dismissal of a civil complaint. The *Johnson* court explained that the issue in *Hays* "implicated a discovery statute giving litigants a broad right to take depositions at any time after service of summons of defendant's appearance" whereas "no comparable discovery statute exists in the present context." (*Johnson*, *supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 1257.)

Second, Johnson distinguished In re Ketchel (1968) 68 Cal.2d 397, in which this Court held that the trial court had jurisdiction, during the pendency of an automatic appeal, over a habeas corpus petition that asserted prison officials had interfered with the defendant's right to assistance of counsel by refusing to allow psychiatrists to interview him. (Id. at pp. 399-402.) The Johnson court explained that the import of the Ketchel holding "was that the writ of habeas corpus lies to prevent official interference, except as necessary to ensure prison security, with an inmate's right of access to his counsel; no similar issue exists in this case." (Johnson, supra, 3 Cal.4th at p. 1257.)

The third case distinguished by *Johnson* was *Wisely v. Superior*Court, supra, 175 Cal.App.3d 267, discussed above. Like in Gonzalez, this Court in *Johnson* distinguished *Wisely* because *Wisely* "depends heavily on the fact that a new penalty trial was anticipated when defendant initiated the challenged postjudgment discovery; that circumstance is absent from this case." (*Johnson*, supra, 3 Cal.4th at p. 1257.)

Finally, this Court dismissed as unpersuasive Johnson's suggestion that jurisdiction must be found to preserve his right to meaningful collateral review. (*Johnson*, *supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 1258.)

3. Gonzalez and Johnson Were Correctly Decided

Morales contends this Court "overlooked and thus failed to resolve" the "real" jurisdictional issue in the *Gonzalez* case. (Brief on the Merits, at

p. 15.) He identifies the real issue as whether the discovery motion would affect the judgment on appeal or otherwise interfere with the appellate court's jurisdiction. (Brief on the Merits, at p. 15 [under section 916(a) "the real jurisdictional question for the *Gonzalez* majority to resolve was whether the discovery motion involved a matter collateral to the judgment on appeal or whether it would have affected or altered the judgment on appeal or otherwise interfered with the appellate court's jurisdiction"], italics omitted; *id.* at p. 19 [under section 916(a) the jurisdictional issue "turns on the impact of a motion or order on the judgment being appealed and the appellate court's jurisdiction"]; *id.* at p. 20 [under section 916(a) "the only jurisdictional question becomes whether the motion is collateral to, and does not seek to alter or affect, the judgment being appealed"].) Morales's argument is based on a misreading of the jurisdictional requirements in section 916(a). This Court did not miss the point in *Gonzalez*.

Before a court may hear and determine a matter, it must have been granted jurisdiction over the subject; any order rendered by a court lacking subject matter jurisdiction is void on its face. (*Varian*, *supra*, 35 Cal.4th at p. 196; see *Gomez v. Superior Court* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 293, 303 [a grant of the authority to "hear and determine" a matter is a grant of subject matter jurisdiction]; *People v. Ainsworth*, *supra*, 217 Cal.App.3d at p. 255 ["[A Court] cannot exercise jurisdiction in any instance until after it has acquired it"].) Jurisdiction is granted either by the Constitution or by statute. (*Harrington v. Superior Court* (1924) 194 Cal. 185, 188.)

With respect to deciding a motion, a court's authority derives from the pendency of an underlying proceeding over which the court has jurisdiction, to which the motion relates. (*People v. Picklesimer*, *supra*, 48 Cal.4th at pp. 337-338.) This is so because a motion is not an independent remedy; rather, "[i]t is ancillary to an on-going action and

implies the pendency of a suit between the parties and is confined to incidental matters in the progress of the cause." (*Id.* at p. 337, internal quotation marks omitted.) Stated another way, "a motion relates to some question collateral to the main object of the action and is connected with, and dependent on, the principal remedy." (*Id.*, internal quotation marks omitted.) "In most cases, after the judgment has become final there is nothing pending to which a motion may attach." (*Id.*, internal quotation marks omitted.)

Thus, the fundamental question to answer when deciding if a trial court has jurisdiction to entertain a motion is this: Does the motion relate to a proceeding over which the trial court has jurisdiction?

This issue is relatively uncomplicated after both pronouncement of judgment and issuance of a remittitur following appeal, because in those circumstances the trial court's jurisdiction over the case is limited solely to the making of orders necessary to carry out the judgment as ordered by the appellate court. (*People v. Picklesimer, supra*, 48 Cal.4th at p. 337; *People v. Rittger* (1961) 55 Cal.2d 849, 852; *People v. Ainsworth, supra*, 217 Cal.App.3d at pp. 251-252.) Unless a motion relates to executing the judgment, there will be nothing left pending in the trial court to which a motion could attach. (E.g., *People v. Picklesimer, supra*, 48 Cal.4th at p. 338 [after issuance of remittitur trial court lacked authority to act on a motion related to mandatory sex offender registration because that mandate was not any part of the judgment, but a collateral consequence thereof].)

The issue might become more complicated during the period after pronouncement of judgment but before the issuance of a remittitur because, during that period, under section 916(a), trial courts retain jurisdiction over a wider array of matters. Section 916(a) states in relevant part:

the perfecting of an appeal stays proceedings in the trial court upon the judgment or order appealed from or upon the matters embraced therein or affected thereby, including enforcement of the judgment or order, but the trial court may proceed upon any other matter embraced in the action and not affected by the judgment or order.

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